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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Avondale stands on a low rise of ground on the south side of
U.S. Route 31, about 2 1/2 miles west of Westminster, Maryland.

It is a Georgian style two and one-half story brick house,
measuring approximately 45 feet long by 18 1/2 feet deep. A two story
brick north-west wing measures approximately 49 feet long by 13 feet
deep.

The formally arranged, Flemish bond principal facade faces
southwest and has five symmetrically placed bays at the first floor
level. The entrance doorway is located on a centered, two story
pedimented pavillion that only slightly projects beyond the wall
plane. This entrance consists of a double door and narrow flanking
sidelights beneath an unusually pronounced arched fanlight. The
four flanking windows of nine over nine pane sash have simple beaded
surrounds and flat arches of splayed stretcher brick. On the second
floor level is a Palladian window centered on the pavillion directly
over the entrance door. Its four flanking windows are smaller than
those below and have sash of six over six lights each. Extending
across the facade between the outside ends of the sills of the two
second floor end windows is a two course brick band. Within the
pediment of the pavillion is a small lunette window. A single flush
chimney stands at each end of the gable roof and there is a three
part, dentiled wood cornice across the front and rear elevations.
Although there are cornice returns on the front pediment there are
none on the ends of the house. On the rear elevation of the exposed
wall of the main block is two bays wide. A centered, first floor,
unornamented door opens into the main hall. Extending across this
elevation, between the wing and the southeast corner of the main
block and flush with the second floor window sills, is a projecting
two course brick band.

The northeast wing was initially a detached or semi-detached
two story brick structure, three bays wide on its southeast side and
one bay wide on the northwest side, which housed the summer kitchen
in its single ground floor room. It has been suggested that this
earliest part of the wing pre-dates the main block but similarities
in structural and decorative detail indicate that the two were built
at or about the same time. In about the mid nineteenth century the
area between the main block and kitchen was closed by the addition
of a two story, two bay extension of the kitchen. At about this
same time a one-story, full width farm porch was built on the wings
southeast elevation.

Although the plan of the principal facade would seem to suggest
otherwise, the interior of Avondale is one of fairly simple design,
more Federal in detail than Georgian. Tts most outstanding feature is
that of the main stair, rising in four flights to the attic and
decorated with delicately turned balusters, a molded rail and

(SEE CONTINUATION SHEET NO. 1)
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scrolled stepends. In combination with the fanlighted entrance the stai
hall presents a very handsome appearance. In the two rooms flanking the
hall (see plan) are simple mantles with molded cornice shelves (in

the northwest room a paneled closet stands adjacent to the projecting
chimney), wide two piece surrounds on the windows and doors, and
paneled wainscoting beneath molded chairrails. The two rooms and hall
of the second floor are similarly treated. Beneath the house is a

full, dirt floored cellar.

In the wing there are two rooms, both with large fireplace openings
A steep winding stair is enclosed within the recessed area adjacent to
the projecting chimney of the southwest room and the fireplace opening
in the original kitchen is fitted with cranes and an iron doored oven.
A large iron fireback originally standing this opening was removed
several years ago, but remains on the property.

Avondale has, from years of neglect, suffered extensive damage
from deterioration. The graceful and noteworthy entrance door has
lost 90 percent of its fan and side lights and the floor of the south-
east first floor room of the main block has collapsed into the cellar.
The remainder of the house appears physically sound but is in great
need of general repairs before it, too, is lost.

Near the house is a pyramid roofed smokehouse and a frame wash-

house, both in good repair. There are no vestiges of former gardens or
other outbuildings remaining except a large nineteenth century barn
near the entrance to the property. Ore pits remaining from the iron

furnaces of Legh Masters are, however, evident at a distance not far
from the house.
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Avondale is unique in Carroll County, being the only recorded
example of an eighteenth century house with a formal facade that is
based on elements of Georgian architecture. Although it displays
Federal influences and could be perhaps considered a transitional
building, the arrangement of the facade establishes it as an impor-
tant landmark significant to the study of regional architectural
development.

The building of Ayondale is attributed to Legh Masters (d. 1796)
who came to what is now Carroll County from New Hall, Lancashire,
England, in the early eighteenth century. He owned several thousand
acres, including the Avondale tract. Masters began the operation
of an iron foundry near Avondale circa 1765, making this one of
the oldest furnaces in Maryland. The furnace only operated for one or
two blasts as the ore proved "unproductive and indifferent". Masters'
interest in the area as a residence contradicts his mineral venture
for no one would describe his monumental brick house as "indifferent".
(Two other attempts at iron production were initiated at the end of
the eighteenth century and before the Civil War. Neither was success-
ful. : :

Although there are numerous local stories involving Avondale,
most of these are of supernatural nature. No events of a significant
historical nature are known to have occurred, except the operation of
the furnace. Avondale is presently owned by the B. F. Shriver
Company of Carroll County and the house tenanted. There is a distinct
possibility that the property may soon be sold and a great deal of
public concern has been voiced concerning its preservation.
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AVONDALE Late 18th century
(Listed on the National Register

of Historic Places)
501 Stone Chapel Road Private
Westminster
Avondale is one of the most refined architectural specimens
in Carroll County. Its architecture presents an elaborate
design for this rural region that represents a transitional
building from the early Federal period. The Flemish bond
main facade of the brick structure is highlighted by an
unusually pronounced arched fanlight with a detailed mullion
design at the main entrance. The central bay of the second
story has a Palladian-style window. This stylish detailing
is carried over on the interior with the ornamentation of
the main staircase.
The house was constructed by Legh Master (1717-1796) who
established an iron foundry on this property circa 1765.
Master had come from Lancastershire, England, and acquired
over 6,000 acres of land in this area. He left the area
during the Revolutionary War to operate a merchant boat in
Bermuda, and letters of his to the governor of Maryland show
some of his activities during this period including service
as transporter during an exchange of British and American
prisoners. He returned to Avondale after the war and 1lived

there until his death in 1796. He is most remembered as a
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character in a folk tale published in J. Thomas Scharf's

History of Western Maryland. The tale involves accounts of

encounters with Master's ghost in the hills around Avondale
who begged for mercy for misdeeds that included pushing a

slave into the iron furnance.
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (If known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The main block is of the Georgian silve five bays in
length: large center door with f£anlight and Paladian window
above flanked by two windows on either side, Ihe original
pedimented porch has disappeared but the outline can still
be seen on the front wall,

All interior mouldings and mantles are characteristic

of the Gepogian period, The first floor windows are 9/9 with
interior shutters, cihair rails, original ma&ntles, Cross and Bible
doors, and original hardware, The center hall contains a stair
of rather simple design but withﬁﬁcry delicate double B spandrelas
Ihe panelling at the stair closet is of squires of vrrylnb sizes,
The closet gives access to the cellar stairs, The steir ra&il is

walnut with saddles apd Lhcrqls af added hand rail on the inside
wall, The front door with fenlight has been badly dmmaged and
is Doarded over and the living room £lcor has ccliapsed into tha
celliar so thlt??oow has been boarded off also., The hall and
dining room are in feirly Kood cundition althaugh the dining
rcom f£%oor is a Viectorian replacement (us well as f£locor joists

vigsable frym the cellar),

I'he second f£lobr contalins twe bedrooms with fireplaces
and a single flanking closet, There is a center hall landing
with a sm=all room at Lhe head of the stairs wiich is lighted
by the Paladian window, 7The room contaias a closet and steep
stair=to Lhe aittic,

\n addition to the rear of the house colld hawe Been
built sarlier or lgter but weas erecied seperately as they are
not ectually joinesd at the semm., This addition, which gives
the houst ai ell shape, contains Lhe winter kitchen with large
fireplace (bricked in) and duich oven, The wing has two Tooms
antt center hall down (inel, kitchen at the gable end) and %wo
rooms and center ball above, All four rooms have fireplaces
{the kitchen having the largest) and the stairwell is sheathed
in vertical beaded planking

Off from the gable (kizclen) 2nd of this wing stands a
structure of 19th century design which contains the susmer kitchen,

There are numeveus oubtbulldings including &
stmoke hotise witl pivot post still usable,
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Avondale is unigue in carroll County, being the only
recorded example of an eichteenth century house with a formal

facade that is based on elements of CGeorgian architecture.
Although it displays Federal influences and could be perhaps
considered a transitional building, the arrangement of the
facade establishes it as an important landmark significant
to the study of regional architectural development.

The building of Avondale is attributed to Legh Masters
who came to Carroll County from New Hall, Lancestershire,
England in the early part of the eighteenth century. The
Avondale tract was included among the several thousand acres
he came to own in the area and it was here that he developed-
+the iron furnace of which traces still remain. Masters
began the operation of the foundry in about the yeaxr 1770,

thus ths Avondale furnace is one ©
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Avondale Farm House

7. DESCRIPTION, cocntinued

fairly simple design, more Federal in detail than Georgian.
ts most outstanding fcature is that of the main stair,
rising in four flights to the attic and decorated 7ith
delicately turned balusters, a molded rail and scrolled
stepends. In combination with the fanlighted entrance

the stair hall presents a very handsome appearance. In

the two rooms flanking the hall (see plan) are simple

mantles with molded cornice shelfs (in the northwest

room a paneled closet stands adjacent to the projecting
chimney), wide two piece surrounds on the windows and doors,
and paneled wainscoting beneath molded chairrails. The

two rooms and hall of the second floor are similarly treated.

Beneath the house is a full, dirt floored cellar.

In the wing there are two rcoms, both with large
fireplace openings. A steep winding stair is enclosed
within the recessed area adjacenti. to the projecting
chimney of the southwest room and the fireplace opening
in the criginal kitchen is fitted with cranes and an
iron doored oven. A large iron iireback originally standing
in this opening was removed several years ago, but remains
on the property. -

Avcendale has, from years of neglect, suffered extensive
damage from deterioration. The yraceful and noteworthy
entrance door has lost 90 percen: of its fan and side lights
and the floor of the southeast first floor room of the
main blcck has collapsed into the cellar. The remainder
of the house appears physically sound but is in great
need of general repairs before iz, too, is lost.

Neer the house is a pyramid roofed smokehouse and
a frame washhouse, both in good w<epair. There are no
vestiges of former gardens or otiner outbuildings remaining
except @ large nineteenth century barn near the entrance
to the property. Ore pits remaining from the iron furnaces
of Legh Masters are, however, evident at a distance not
far from the house.
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